Matthew M. Lavin, Esq. (*pro hac vice anticipated*) Wendy A. Mitchell, Esq. (CA SBN 158553) Napoli Shkolnik PLLC 5757 W. Century Boulevard, Suite 680 Los Angeles, CA 90045 (212) 397-1000 / Fax (646) 843-7603

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Putative Class

#### UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

RJ, as the representative of her beneficiary son, and on behalf of and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff,

vs.

DOCKE

Δ

CIGNA BEHAVIORAL HEALTH, INC., a Minnesota Corporation, and VIANT, INC., a Nevada corporation,

Defendants.

Case No.:

**CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT** 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED FOR ALL ISSUES SO TRIABLE

## **Table of Contents**

Introductory Statement Factual Background	1 3
Usual Customary and Reasonable Rates Intensive Outpatient Treatment Programs Illegal Health Claim Re-Pricing The Alliance of Cigna and Viant	3 5 6 7
Jurisdiction and Venue	13
The Parties	14
Plaintiffs Other Interested Parties	14 15
General Allegations	15
The Defendants' Roles and Responsibilities with Respect to Claims UCR Reimbursement of IOP Claims Cigna and Viant's Re-Pricing Scheme Cigna and Viant's False Representations of UCR Reimbursement The Viant Grift The Harm Caused to the Plaintiff and Class Plaintiff's Allegations	15 17 19 21 23 25 26
Class Action Allegations	27
The Plaintiff Class <b>Rule 23(a)</b>	27 28
Numerosity Commonality Typicality Adequacy	28 28 30 31
Rule 23(b)	31
Causes of Actions	32
<i>I. Violations of RICO: 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)</i> On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class Against Cigna and Viant	32
<i>II. Claim for Underpaid Benefits Under Group Plans Governed by ER</i> On Behalf of Plaintiffs and the Class Against Cigna	<b>ISA</b> 38
<b>III. Breach of Plan Provisions in Violation of ERISA § 502(A)(1)(B)</b> On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class Against Cigna	39
<i>IV. Failure to Provide and Accurate EOC and SPD and Request for De and Injunctive Relief</i> <i>On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class Against Cigna</i>	<i>claratory</i> 40
V. Violation of Fiduciary Duties of Loyalty and Due Care and Request Declaratory and Injunctive Relief	for

	Case 5:20-cv-02255-EJD Document 1 Filed 04/02/20 Page 3 of 50	
1	VI. Violation of Fiduciary Duties of Full and Fair Review and Request for	
2	Declaratory and Injunctive Relief On Behalf of Plaintiffs and the Class Against Cigna	42
3		42
4	VII. Claim for Equitable Relief to Enjoin Acts and/or Practices On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class Against Cigna and Viant	43
5	VIII. Claim for Other Appropriate Equitable Relief	
6	On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class Against Cigna and Viant	44
7	Jury Trial Demand	45
8		
9		
10		
11		
12		
13		
14		
15		
16		
17		
18		
19		
20		
21		
22		
23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		
ÞØ	CKET	
AL	A R M Find authenticated court documents without watermarks at <u>docketalarm.com</u>	1.

L A R M Find authenticated court documents without watermarks at <u>docketalarm.com</u>.

#### **CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT**

Plaintiff, RJ, on behalf of her son, a behavioral health patient, and of all others similarly situated, brings this action against Defendants, Cigna Behavioral Health, Inc., ("Cigna") and Viant, Inc. ("Viant") (collectively, "Defendants"), and alleges the following:

#### **INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT**

1. RJ files this action on behalf of her son, SJ, (both names are pseudonyms) and all others similarly situated in the United States (the "Plaintiff Class") whose behavioral health claims for benefits have been systematically undervalued and underpaid by Defendants and who, because of Defendants' actions, owe money or have paid out-of-pocket all or a portion of the difference between what their insurance *should* have covered and what was actually paid.

2. SJ sought treatment for behavioral health disorders, including for mental health and substance use disorders, from licensed, accredited, treatment providers. SJ was a member of an active health insurance policy offering out of network benefits that Cigna administered on behalf of his mother's employer, Intuit, Inc. Cigna charges higher premiums for plans like Plaintiff's that give their members the freedom to choose their own healthcare providers, including those outside of Cigna's "network." For RJ and SJ, Cigna broke this promise, punishing them for SJ seeing out-of-network providers while reaping large profits from his supposedly premier, gold-plated plan.

3. Cigna and Viant colluded to illegally withhold and systematically underpay outof-network benefits for SJ. They accomplished this by using a dishonest and self-serving reimbursement scheme. Specifically, Cigna, without Plaintiff's consent or authority, contracted with Viant to "negotiate" the amounts that Cigna would ultimately pay for Plaintiff's out-ofnetwork claims. Cigna contracted with Viant to create an illegal enterprise to underpay out-ofnetwork benefits, shield Cigna from the providers and insureds they cheated, and create impenetrable, systemic, administrative barriers to circumvent rights protected by federal laws.

4. Cigna and Viant's scheme forced Plaintiff and the Class to pay and/or be responsible for, out of their own pockets, the difference between the amount Cigna should have paid and the amount that Cigna did pay for services. This difference often ran into the tens, and

#### Case 5:20-cv-02255-EJD Document 1 Filed 04/02/20 Page 5 of 50

sometimes hundreds, of thousands of dollars *per patient* and is on top of the premium paid for their healthcare plans. Every excess dollar paid by a patient is a dollar that Cigna unjustly retained and used to pay a kick-back to Viant. Consequently, Cigna and Viant unjustly retain tens of millions, or more, of dollars taken from patients who expected Cigna to be "[their] partner in total health and wellness. And we're here for [them] 24/7 – caring for [their] body and mind.<sup>1</sup>"

5. Plaintiff brings this suit against Cigna to recover the money she unjustly overpaid or now owes for care that Cigna should have reimbursed. This suit is also brought against Viant for the role it played as Cigna's agent and claim profiteer in this sordid enterprise.

6. Every claim at issue in this litigation is for intensive outpatient ("IOP") mental health and/or substance use disorder services that Cigna was required to pay at usual, customary, or reasonable rates. Plaintiff was insured under a Cigna health insurance policy. The policy provided coverage for out-of-network benefits for mental health and substance use disorder treatment at usual, customary or reasonable rates.

7. While Cigna issued, underwrote and/or administered Plaintiff's health insurance policy, Viant determined the reimbursement rate for every underpaid claim in the present litigation. After receiving treatment, Plaintiff's claims were submitted to Cigna for pricing and payment according to the out-of-network payment rate.

8. In the plan documents, this rate is referred to as the "Usual, Customary and Reasonable" rate, the "Reasonable and Customary" amount, the "Usual and Customary" amount, the "Reasonable Charge," the "Prevailing Rate," the "Usual Fee," the "Competitive Fee," or some other similar phrase (hereafter the "UCR" rate).

9. Cigna classifies reimbursement rates as the Maximum Reimbursable Charge ("MRC"). Cigna administered health insurance plans are subcategorized as either MRC I, or MRC II. Plaintiff's plan, and the plans of the class members are MRC I plans.

10. For each of the claims at issue here, Cigna reported, in both plan language and on telephonic verification of benefits, that it would reimburse patients and/or their assignees at the

<sup>1</sup> <u>https://www.cigna.com/about-us/</u> (last visited March 17, 2020)

Find authenticated court documents without watermarks at <u>docketalarm.com</u>.

## DOCKET A L A R M



# Explore Litigation Insights

Docket Alarm provides insights to develop a more informed litigation strategy and the peace of mind of knowing you're on top of things.

## **Real-Time Litigation Alerts**



Keep your litigation team up-to-date with **real-time alerts** and advanced team management tools built for the enterprise, all while greatly reducing PACER spend.

Our comprehensive service means we can handle Federal, State, and Administrative courts across the country.

## **Advanced Docket Research**



With over 230 million records, Docket Alarm's cloud-native docket research platform finds what other services can't. Coverage includes Federal, State, plus PTAB, TTAB, ITC and NLRB decisions, all in one place.

Identify arguments that have been successful in the past with full text, pinpoint searching. Link to case law cited within any court document via Fastcase.

## **Analytics At Your Fingertips**



Learn what happened the last time a particular judge, opposing counsel or company faced cases similar to yours.

Advanced out-of-the-box PTAB and TTAB analytics are always at your fingertips.

## API

Docket Alarm offers a powerful API (application programming interface) to developers that want to integrate case filings into their apps.

## LAW FIRMS

Build custom dashboards for your attorneys and clients with live data direct from the court.

Automate many repetitive legal tasks like conflict checks, document management, and marketing.

## FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Litigation and bankruptcy checks for companies and debtors.

## E-DISCOVERY AND LEGAL VENDORS

Sync your system to PACER to automate legal marketing.